# Seatbelts and the law: how well do we protect Australian children?

Katie N Reeve, Yvonne A Zurynski, Elizabeth J Elliott and Lynne Bilston

In Australia in 2005, 72 child passengers under the age of 16 years were killed in motor vehicle accidents, accounting for about two-thirds of all road user deaths in this age group. About a thousand children are seriously injured as vehicle occupants on Australian roads each year. Car accidents are the most common cause of injury and death for Australian children aged 1–14 years and account for about 40% of all injury-related deaths.

The rate of child restraint and seatbelt use in Australia is high, at over 92%. <sup>4-7</sup> Although more frequent when children are unrestrained, serious injuries and deaths also occur among restrained children. The "seatbelt syndrome" is a specific pattern of serious injury to the lumbar and cervical spine, and to abdominal organs, including contusions, tears, and perforations. <sup>8-11</sup> These injuries are associated with premature graduation of young children to adult seatbelts, misuse of seatbelts, or use of lap-only belts. <sup>4-6,12-17</sup>

In this review, we summarise current evidence for child restraint use, existing restraint legislation and policy, and parents' knowledge and attitudes towards child restraints.

#### Methods and results of literature search

We searched MEDLINE, the Cochrane Library, and government, legal and other road-safety-related websites to extract information on child restraint legislation, policy, types and incidence of injuries, and knowledge and use of restraints by parents and carers.

MEDLINE was searched via Ovid for the period January 2000 – March 2007. We found 181 titles using the search terms "seat belt AND injuries" (limits: child 0–16 years, English language) and 103 titles using "lap belt". Our search focused on injuries associated with seatbelt and child restraint use and/or seating position for passengers aged up to 16 years travelling in motor vehicles. Of 124 abstracts identified, 26 articles were relevant for this review. Randomised controlled trials of restraints as intervention are not ethical and none were identified. We found one literature review and one Cochrane systematic review of the effectiveness of interventions to increase optimal restraint use. We excluded articles if there was no focus on type of restraint used or misuse of restraint; there was a lack of description of the types of injuries sustained; or it was a case report only.

We conducted an Internet search using the terms: seat belt legislation/law, Australian Road Rules, booster seat, child restraint, safety belt, road fatalities, crash statistics, child deaths, and child injuries. We reviewed 10 papers and 36 websites.

Most evidence in support of the use of child restraints meets National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) evidence level III or IV and comes from simulated crash tests (some controlled), cross-sectional studies, case series, case—control studies and observational studies that assessed restraint-use behaviour, or crash and injury surveillance data.

# Optimal use versus misuse of restraints

Adult seatbelts and car seats are designed to protect adult passengers. Children are shorter than adults, have relatively larger heads, and underdeveloped iliac crests. As a result, the sash portion of an adult seatbelt tends to lie across a child's face or neck (Box 1A) and

#### **ABSTRACT**

- About a thousand Australian children are seriously injured in motor vehicle accidents each year, despite 92% using seatbelts or child restraints.
- Premature graduation of children to adult seatbelts, misuse of seatbelts and use of lap-only belts increase the risk of injury or death.
- In Australia, use of a child restraint or booster seat is not mandatory for children aged > 1 year, while other countries mandate their use for children up to 5–12 years old.
- Australian parents are confused about the safest restraint and seating position, particularly for children aged > 2 years.
- Australian child restraint legislation needs to be reviewed to increase the rate of optimal restraint use.

MJA 2007: 186: 635-638

the lap portion rides up across the abdomen (Box 1, A and B). <sup>15,18-20</sup> Poor fit is exacerbated by the "slouch factor", as children tend to sit slumped in their seats. As the seatbelt is uncomfortable, children are likely to misuse it by placing the sash portion under the arm or behind the back, effectively converting a lap-sash belt into a lap-only belt. <sup>11,13,14,21</sup> In an accident, incorrect seatbelt positioning or misuse increases the risk of intestinal perforation and mesenteric disruption due to "jackknife" forces on the lap portion of the belt, and head injuries due to excessive head excursion, allowing the head to make contact with the child's lower limbs or the vehicle's interior. <sup>11,21,22</sup>

Child restraints reduce the risk of injury and death in a car crash by minimising contact with the vehicle's interior, reducing impact forces and spreading forces onto less vulnerable parts of the body. <sup>12,15,21</sup> In Australia, restraints must comply with stringent Australian Standards (AS 1754). Current Australian child restraint guidelines recommend use of a dedicated child restraint — a rear-facing infant capsule or a forward-facing child seat or booster seat with high back and wings — until children are at least 145 cm tall (Box 2). <sup>23,24</sup> Use of a booster seat improves the fit of an adult seatbelt (Box 1C).

#### 1 Uses of an adult seatbelt on a 6-year-old child







A: Incorrect fit. B: Misuse. C: Improved fit using a booster seat.

**MJA** • Volume 186 Number 12 • 18 June 2007

#### **PUBLIC HEALTH**

Size	Age	Best-choice restraint	When to move to the next restraint
Birth to 8kg	0 to ~ 6–9 months	Rear-facing infant capsule	>8 kg and/or > 70 cm length
8–18 kg	6 months to ~ 5 years	Forward-facing child seat	> 18 kg and/or eye level is above the back of the child seat
≥ 18 kg or eye level above back of child seat	~ 5 years +	Booster seat with high back and wings	Child's legs long enough to have his/her back against the back of the car seat and knees bent over edge of seat cushion; lap portion of seatbelt fits across the hip bones, not abdomen; and sash portion passes on outer shoulder, not on neck; usually when child is > 145 cm tall
> 145  cm	~ 11 years	Adult seatbelt	•

3 Child restraint legislation in Australia and other English-speaking countries		
Country	Current laws for child restraint use	
Australia <sup>31</sup>	<ul> <li>Child restraints mandatory for children up to 1 year of age</li> <li>Adult seatbelt or child restraint mandatory for children 1–16 years of age</li> </ul>	
New Zealand <sup>32</sup>	<ul> <li>Child restraints mandatory for children up to 5 years of age</li> <li>Adult seatbelt or child restraint mandatory for children 5–16 years of age</li> </ul>	
United Kingdom <sup>33</sup>	<ul> <li>Child restraints mandatory for children up to 12 years of age or height 135 cm</li> <li>Adult seatbelt mandatory for children &gt; 12 years of age or height &gt; 135 cm</li> </ul>	
United States <sup>34,35</sup>	<ul> <li>Variation among states: child restraint laws require children to travel in approved child restraint devices, and some permit or require older children to use adult seatbelts. The age at which seatbelts can be used instead of child restraints differs among the states; 38 states have booster seat laws (al have age limits, additionally some have height and weight limits)</li> </ul>	
Canada <sup>36</sup>	<ul> <li>Variation among provinces: all have child restraint laws, including three with booster seat laws covering children up to 8 years and/or 36 kg and/or 145 cm</li> </ul>	

In a car crash, restrained children fare better than unrestrained children, even when using inappropriate restraints for their age or size. 8,15-17,21,22 Two studies reported that seatbelts were equally effective in preventing injuries among adults and children aged >4 years, however, these studies did not distinguish between the use of child restraints and adult seatbelts by the injured children. 25,26 While adult seatbelts are safer than no restraint, they offer suboptimal protection to children. 15-17,21,22 Severe injuries resulting in paraplegia and death have been associated with the use of lap belts.<sup>9</sup> Children aged 2-5 years wearing an adult seatbelt are 3.5 times more likely to suffer a significant injury and 4.2 times more likely to sustain a head injury than those using a dedicated child restraint. 16 Data from the United States showed a 28% reduction in risk of death for children aged 2-6 years using child restraints. 15 Children aged 4-7 years using booster seats had a 59% reduction in risk of injury compared with adult seatbelts.<sup>21</sup> Children using adult seatbelts were 2.7 times more likely to suffer a severe injury compared with similarly restrained adults.<sup>27</sup> Furthermore, children using adult seatbelts had significantly more injuries to all body parts, including injuries consistent with seatbelt syndrome, compared with children in booster seats. 17 In Australia, a crash investigation study found that for children <14 years of age, dedicated child restraints performed best in terms of safety, followed by lap-sash belts, then lap-only belts. 12 More recently, a case-control study of 152 children

# 4 Australian child restraint resources Child Restraint Evaluation Program buyer's guide (free copy) (http://www.racv.com.au) KidSafe (http://www.kidsafe.com.au) Australian Transport Safety Bureau (http://www.atsb.gov.au) **New South Wales** Motor Accidents Authority (http://www.maa.nsw.gov.au) Roads and Traffic Authority (http://www.rta.nsw.gov.au) NRMA (http://www.mynrma.com.au) Victoria VicRoads (http://www.vicroads.vic.gov.au) RACV (http://www.racv.com.au) Queensland Queensland Transport

# (http://www.roadsafety.qld.gov.au)

RACQ (http://www.racq.com.au)

#### South Australia

Department for Transport, Energy and Infrastructure

(http://www.transport.sa.gov.au)

# Western Australia

Office of Road Safety

(http://www.officeofroadsafety.wa.gov.au)

#### Tasmania

RACT (http://www.ract.com.au)

### Northern Territory

Department of Planning and Infrastructure (http://www.ipe.nt.gov.au)

#### Australian Capital Territory

Department of Territory and Municipal Services (http://www.tams.act.gov.au)

aged 2–8 years found no serious or fatal injuries among optimally restrained children, while 30% of suboptimally restrained children sustained serious or fatal injuries. <sup>13,14</sup>

It is recommended that children graduate to an adult seatbelt without a booster seat when a good fit is achieved, usually once children are 145 cm tall (about 11 years old). 20,23,24 However, many children move to an adult seatbelt too early. In New South Wales and Victoria, the mean age of transition to a seatbelt is 5.6 years (range, 3–9 years). A recent New Zealand study found that only 40% of children requiring a booster seat were using one, and in the 5–8-years age group, 93% required a booster seat but only 30% were using one. In one Australian study, only 18% of children aged 2–8 years injured in car crashes were optimally restrained. 13,14 Other studies have shown that suboptimal restraint is highest among children aged 2–8 years. 6,8,16-18

# Front or rear seat — which is safest?

Five recent cross-sectional studies assessing the effect of seating position on injuries all concluded that the rear seat is the safest place for children. 8,12,14,25,30 Children < 16 years old are at 40% greater risk of injury when travelling in the front seat. 8 In Australia, children aged 2–8 years injured in car crashes when seated in the rear sustained significantly fewer severe injuries than

children in the front seat.<sup>13</sup> The association between serious injury and deployment of airbags adds to the evidence that children are safer in the rear seat.<sup>30</sup> Despite this evidence, and the recommendation that children < 12 years should travel in the rear seat,<sup>23</sup> only one of Australia's states and territories prohibits the use of child restraints in the front seat.<sup>31</sup>

# Child restraint legislation

Current Australian legislation requires infants up to the age of 1 year to travel in a properly fitted, Australian Standards-approved child restraint. Children aged 1–16 years must travel in either a child restraint or a seatbelt. Australian child restraint laws lag behind those of other countries, many of which have legislation making child restraints compulsory for children aged > 1 year (Box 3). In 2006, the United Kingdom and 12 other countries in the European Union introduced child restraint laws for children up to 12 years of age (or 135 cm tall). According to the countries and the US are gradually making booster seats mandatory for children < 145 cm tall.

A recent longitudinal study from the US found that children in states with laws requiring booster seats up to age 7 years were 39% more likely to be appropriately restrained.<sup>38</sup> Evidence from a systematic review showed that legislation coupled with education campaigns successfully increases the use of optimal restraints.<sup>39</sup> Since the introduction of mandatory child restraints law in NZ for children up to 5 years of age,<sup>32</sup> the use of dedicated child restraints increased by 15% to reach 89% in 2005 in this age group.<sup>28</sup> The number of injuries decreased by 44%, and deaths decreased by 46% (Stephen Evans, Research and Statistics, NZ Ministry of Transport, personal communication).

Parents rely on the law to guide them in restraint choice and feel that if a restraint type is legally valid, it must be safe. <sup>40</sup> The National Transport Commission recently proposed changes to the Australian Road Rules that would require all children < 6 months to use a rearfacing restraint, then a forward-facing restraint with in-built harness or rear-facing restraint up to age 4 years, then a booster seat or forward-facing restraint up to age 7. Children < 7 years would also have to sit in the rear seat. If adopted, these changes will need to be enacted by each state for legislative effect. Such laws may be introduced as early as the end of 2007. Further changes to enhance protection for 7–10-year olds will require upgrades to the Australian Standards for child restraints.

# What do parents know about child restraints?

We found six Australian studies assessing parents' knowledge about child restraints, which showed uncertainty about optimal restraint choice, correct installation, and the safest seating position for children. These studies included two surveys with small self-selected samples and low response rates, three observational studies coupled with interviews of the drivers, fo,41 and one purely observational study (looking through car windows) to observe restraint use and to estimate the size or age of the child. Study quality varied, highlighting the methodological challenges in performing this kind of research.

A recent NZ study that matched actual behaviour to survey responses showed that although drivers were confident about restraint use in children <8 years old, 64% made at least one error. Similarly, Australian parents/carers were confident about their knowledge of child restraints, but most were not aware of the recommendations for choosing the optimum restraint according to

# 5 Key recommendations and levels of evidence\*

- Children are safest travelling in dedicated child restraints (III-3)
- Children are safest travelling in the rear seat of a vehicle (III-3)
- Size is more important than age in deciding when to graduate to another restraint type. Graduation to an adult seatbelt should only occur when a child is 145 cm tall (III-3)
- Appropriate legislation, education and awareness campaigns are needed to improve the use of optimal restraints (I)
- Health professionals are well placed to provide information on child restraints and advocate for changes in legislation (IV)
- \* National Health and Medical Research Council. A guide to the development, evaluation and implementation of clinical practice guidelines. Canberra: NHMRC, 1999.

the child's age and size and when to progress to adult seat-belts. 4,5,12,42 Parents/carers were also confused about restraint legislation — only 44% had some knowledge of child restraint legislation and 6% were not aware of any laws. The most common reason for not using a booster seat was parents' beliefs that their child was "too big" for a child restraint once they had outgrown their forward-facing child seat. Other barriers included a lack of understanding of risks associated with seatbelt use in children, failure to perceive booster seats as safe, and inability to get a child to use a booster seat. Price was an issue for only 10% of Australian parents/carers and most believed restraints were worth the money.

Australian parents believe child restraint installation is easy, however more than 20% of restraints are fitted incorrectly (eg, toptether strap not connected, seatbelt incorrectly threaded or not buckled, anchorage point used incorrectly). About two-thirds of parents consider using licensed restraint-fitting stations.

Although current guidelines recommend that children < 12 years old sit in the rear seat, <sup>23</sup> at least a quarter of Australian parents feel it is safe for a child aged 7 years to travel in the front seat. <sup>7,42</sup>

There are many information resources for parents on child restraints (Box 4). However, 40% of parents in Australia purchased their child restraint with inadequate or no sales advice. <sup>6,42</sup> Parents feel the best means of promoting restraint use is through advertising and children's stories on television, and pamphlets at day care centres, hospitals, and schools. <sup>42</sup> Initiatives to increase booster seat use are effective; schemes that provide free or discounted booster seats with education on their use have the most benefit, although education-only schemes are also successful. <sup>39,44</sup> Child health practitioners are an important advocacy group and well placed to provide information to families. <sup>45</sup>

## Conclusion

High levels of overall restraint use in Australia indicate that parents are motivated to protect their children, yet inadequate knowledge of what constitutes optimal restraint is placing children at unnecessary risk. Education campaigns, strong advocacy, and legislation play important roles in injury prevention. The safety benefits of child restraint use should be reflected in adequately disseminated policy. Key recommendations are shown in Box 5.

# **Acknowledgements**

This is an unfunded study. The activities of the Australian Paediatric Surveillance Unit are supported by the Australian Government Department of Health

#### **PUBLIC HEALTH**

and Ageing; NHMRC Enabling Grant No. 402784; NHMRC Practitioner Fellowship No. 457084 (Elizabeth Elliott); Discipline of Paediatrics and Child Health, University of Sydney; and the Royal Australasian College of Physicians.

# **Competing interests**

None identified.

#### **Author details**

Katie N Reeve, MB BS(Hons), MRCPCH, MRCP, Research Officer<sup>1</sup>
Yvonne A Zurynski, BAppSc, MAppSc, PhD, Assistant Director, Senior Lecturer<sup>2</sup>

**Elizabeth J Elliott,** MD, FRACP, FRCPCH, Director and NHMRC Practitioner Fellow, <sup>1</sup> Professor<sup>2</sup>

**Lynne Bilston**, BE(Mech)(Hons), MSE, PhD, NHMRC Senior Research Fellow, Prince of Wales Medical Research Institute; Associate Professor, Faculty of Medicine<sup>3</sup>

- 1 Australian Paediatric Surveillance Unit, The Children's Hospital at Westmead, Sydney, NSW.
- 2 Discipline of Paediatrics and Child Health, University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW.
- 3 University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW.

Correspondence: apsu@chw.edu.au

### References

- 1 Australian Transport Safety Bureau. Road deaths Australia, 2005 statistical summary. Canberra: ATSB, 2006. http://www.atsb.gov.au/publications/2006/ rda\_ss\_2005.aspx (accessed Oct 2006).
- 2 Australian Transport Safety Bureau. Serious injury due to road crashes. Canberra: ATSB, 2004. http://www.atsb.gov.au/publications/2004/Injury\_ Crash.aspx (accessed Oct 2006).
- 3 Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian social trends, 2005. Mortality and morbidity: children's accidents and injuries. (ABS Cat. No. 4102.0.) Canberra: ABS, 2005. http://www.abs.gov.au (accessed Oct 2006).
- 4 Charlton J, Koppel S, Fitzharris M, et al. Factors that influence children's booster seat use. Report No. 250. Melbourne: Monash University Accident Research Centre, 2006.
- 5 Wikman J. Child restraint advice and fitting service in Queensland. Presented at the Third National Conference on Injury Prevention and Control; 1999 May 9–12; Brisbane, Qld.
- 6 Edwards SA, Anderson RWG, Hutchinson TP. A survey of drivers' child restraint choice and knowledge in South Australia. Report No. CASR012. Adelaide: Centre for Automotive Safety Research, University of Adelaide, 2006.
- 7 Lennon AJ. Where do children sit in Australian passenger vehicles? Results of an observational study. In: Proceedings of the Australasian Road Safety Research, Policing and Education Conference; 2005 Nov 14-16; Wellington, NZ.
- 8 Durbin DR, Chen I, Smith R, et al. Effects of seating position and appropriate restraint use on the risk of injury to children in motor vehicle crashes. *Pediatrics* 2005; 115: e305-e309.
- 9 Shepherd M, Hamill J, Segedin E. Paediatric lap-belt injury: a 7 year experience. *Emerg Med Australas* 2006; 18: 57-63.
- 10 Durbin DR, Arbogast KB, Moll EK. Seat belt syndrome in children: a case report and review of the literature. *Pediatr Emerg Care* 2001; 17: 474-477.
- 11 Lutz N, Nance ML, Kallan MJ, et al. Incidence and clinical significance of abdominal wall bruising in restrained children involved in motor vehicle crashes. *J Pediatr Surg* 2004; 39: 972-975.
- 12 Henderson M, Brown J, Griffiths M. Children in adult seat belts and child harnesses. Report No. CR 173. Canberra: Federal Office of Road Safety, 1997.
- 13 Brown J, McCaskill ME, Henderson M, Bilston LE. Serious injury is associated with suboptimal restraint use in child motor vehicle occupants. *J Paediatr Child Health* 2006; 42: 345-349.
- 14 Brown J, Bilston L, McCaskill M, Henderson M. Identification of injury mechanisms for child occupants aged 2–8 in motor vehicle accidents. Sydney: Motor Accidents Authority of NSW, 2005.
- 15 Elliott MR, Kallan MJ, Durbin DR, Winston FK. Effectiveness of child safety seats vs seat belts in reducing risk for death in children in passenger vehicle crashes. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2006; 160: 617-621.
- 16 Winston FK, Durbin DR, Kallan MJ, Moll EK. The danger of premature graduation to seat belts for young children. *Pediatrics* 2000; 105: 1179-1183.
- 17 Durbin DR, Elliott MR, Winston FK. Belt-positioning booster seats and reduction in risk of injury among children in vehicle crashes. JAMA 2003; 289: 2835-2840.

- 18 Berg MD, Cook L, Corneli, HM, et al. Effect of seating position and restraint use on injuries to children in motor vehicle crashes. *Pediatrics* 2000; 105: 831-835
- 19 Reed MP, Ebert-Hamilton SM, Manary MA, et al. A new database of child anthropometry and seated posture for automotive safety applications. Technical Paper 2005-01-1837. SAE Transactions: Journal of Passenger Cars – Mechanical Systems 2005; 114: 2222-2235.
- 20 US Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Research note. Revised estimates of child restraint effectiveness. Dec 1996. http://www-nrd.nhtsa.dot.gov/pdf/nrd-30/NCSA/RNotes/1996/child-est.pdf (accessed Oct 2006).
- 21 Valent F, McGwin G, Hardin W, et al. Restraint use and injury patterns among children involved in motor vehicle collisions. *J Trauma* 2002; 52: 745-751.
- 22 Lennon A. Issues of child occupant protection: a literature review. Journal of the Australasian College of Road Safety 2006; 17(2): 38-45.
- 23 Prince of Wales Medical Research Institute. Child Restraint Guidelines. http://www.powmri.edu.au/research/injury/road/children.htm (accessed Nov 2006).
- 24 KidSafe NSW Inc. A summary of choosing and using a child restraint. http://www.kidsafensw.org/docs/a%20summary%20of%20choosing%20and%20using%20a%20child%20restraint.pdf (accessed Oct 2006).
- 25 Corneli HM, Cook LJ, Dean JM. Adults and children in severe motor vehicle crashes: a matched-pairs study. Ann Emerg Med 2000; 36: 340-345.
- 26 Halman SI, Chipman M, Parkin PC, Wright JG. Are seat belt restraints as effective in school age children as in adults? A prospective crash study. BMJ 2002; 324: 1123.
- 27 Javouhey E, Guerin AC, Gadegbeku B, et al. Are restrained children under 15 years of age in cars as effectively protected as adults? Arch Dis Child 2006; 91: 304-308.
- 28 New Zealand Ministry of Transport. Child restraint use by children under 5 years: results of national survey, September 2005. http://www.transport.govt.nz/child-restraint-statistics-2005 (accessed Nov 2006).
- 29 Cameron L, Segedin E, Nuthall G, Thompson J. Safe restraint of the child passenger. J Paediatr Child Health 2006; 42: 752-757.
- 30 Newgard CD, Lewis RJ. Effects of child age and body size on serious injury from passenger air-bag presence in motor vehicle crashes. *Pediatrics* 2005; 115: 1579-1585.
- 31 Roads and Traffic Authority (NSW). Australian Road Rules. http://www.rta.nsw.gov.au/rulesregulations/roadrules/australianroadrules.html (accessed Oct 2006).
- 32 New Zealand Ministry of Transport. Safety belts. http://www.transport.govt.nz/belts-index (accessed Nov 2006).
- 33 UK Department for Transport. Child restraints new law. http://www.think-roadsafety.gov.uk/campaigns/childcarseats/childcarseats.htm (accessed Oct 2004)
- 34 Insurance Institute for Highway Safety, Highway Loss Data Institute. Child restraint, belt laws, as of July 2006. http://www.iihs.org/laws/state\_laws/restrain.html (accessed Nov 2006).
- 35 US Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. State booster seat requirements. http://www.boosterseat.gov (accessed Nov 2006).
- 36 Safe Kids Canada. Booster seats. http://www.sickkids.ca/SKCPublicPolicyAdvocacy/section.asp?s=Booster+Seats&sID=15073 (accessed Oct 2006).
- 37 Directive 2003/20/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 8 April 2003 amending Council Directive 91/671/EEC on the approximation of the laws of the Member States relating to compulsory use of safety belts in vehicles of less than 3,5 tonnes. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ.do?uri=CELEX:32003L0020:EN:HTML (accessed Nov 2006).
- 38 Winston FK, Kallan MJ, Elliott MR, et al. Effect of booster seat laws on appropriate restraint use by children 4 to 7 years old involved in crashes. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* 2007; 161: 270-275.
- 39 Zaza S, Sleet DA, Thompson RS, et al; Task Force on Community Preventive Services. Reviews of evidence regarding interventions to increase use of child safety seats. *Am J Prev Med* 2001; 21 (4 Suppl): 31-47.
- 40 Simpson EM, Moll EK, Kassam-Adams N, et al. Barriers to booster seat use and strategies to increase their use. *Pediatrics* 2002; 110: 729-736.
- 41 Paine M, Vertsonis H. Surveys of child restraint use in New South Wales. Paper 214. In: Proceedings of the 17th International Technical Conference on the Enhanced Safety of Vehicles; 2001 Jun 4-7; Amsterdam, The Netherlands.
- 42 Royal Automobile Club of Queensland. RACQ child restraint survey. 31 March 2006. http://www.racq.com.au/images/documents/Child\_Restraint\_Survey.pdf (accessed Nov 2006).
- 43 Simpson JC, Turnbull BL, Stephenson SC, Davie GS. Correct and incorrect use of child restraints: results from an urban survey in New Zealand. *Int J Inj Contr Saf Promot* 2006; 13: 260-263.
- 44 Ehiri JE, Ejere HOD, Magnussen L, et al. Interventions for promoting booster seat use in four to eight year olds travelling in motor vehicles. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2006; (1): CD004334.

45 Breen J. Road safety advocacy. BMJ 2004; 328: 888-890.

(Received 4 Dec 2006, accepted 8 Apr 2007)